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This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinationa of eligibillty for Individual propertisa or districts. See inatructions in Guidelines
for Complating National Register Forms (Natlonal Reglstar Butletin 16). Complete sach ltem by marking “'x" in the appropriate box or by entering
the requested information. !f an item does not apply to the property being documented, enter “N/A" for “'not spplicable.” For functions, styles, materiala,
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1. Name of Property
historic name William Wnltney House

other names/site number "Hallmark House®

2. Location

street & number 142 East F1rst sStreet [ Thot for publication
city, town Hinsdale | [ vicinity
state I1linois code 11 county DuPage code 043 zip cod360521—
' 4202
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Proparty
X private building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
] public-local T district 1 1 buildings
] public-State Jsite sites
] public-Federal I structure structures
] object objects
1 1 o
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed In the Natlonal Register __—Y—

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

%me designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1866, as amended, | hereby certify that this
nomination D request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering propertles in the

Register_gf Historic Plgces and meets the procedurat and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

j napts Ddoo.s not meet the National Register criteria. See continuation sheet.
A AN - f — /7 -—f?

Signature ofj’enifying official Date

I111indis Historic Preservation Agency
State or FeHeral agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [Imeets [_ldoes not meet the National Register criterla. [ See continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
1, hereby, certify that this property is:
[Jentered in the National Register.
DSee continuation sheet.
[[]determined eligible for the National
Register. DSee continuation sheet.
[:Ideterm_ined not eligible for the
National Register.

[:] removed from the National Register,
[ Jother, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action




6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter calegories from instructions)
' Domestic/single dwelling Domestic/single dwelling

Pealth care/medical business/office

7. Description
Architectural Classification ) Materials (enter categories from instructions)
{enter categories from instructions)
. . . foundation Limestone
ILate Victorian/Italianate walls Wood/weather board
roof Asphalt
other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

Overview

The William Whitney House is located in the center of Hinsdale on the
southwest corner of First Street and Park Avenue, one block east of
the commercial area and one block south of the Burlington Railroad
tracks. The Whitney House stands in its original location on a
slight rise overlooking a gquiet street of stately chrches and
traditional homes, surrounded by full grown American elms and other
mature shade trees.

Built in 1869 as one of the first residences in Hinsdale, the Whitney
House faces north from the highest part of a 177 x 170 corner 1lot.
See Exhibit A for a plat of the site drawn in 1983. The Whitney
House is shaded on three sides by six full grown American elms plus
mature maple, ash, catalpa and other varieties.

The House is a wood, balloon frame structure about 80 feet deep and
35 feet wide built as an assymetric, front gabled L-shaped structure
with Ttalianate trim. It has two full stories for two thirds of its
length with one story in the rear. A one story porch covers the
entire front of the house with partial porches wrapping around the
west and east sides which lead to side entrances. The Italianate
style is evident by segmental arch windows, paired eave brackets,
ccrnice rope molding, chamfered porch posts and other details. All
siding is wood, most of it original.

A two car garage is:located in the southwest corner of the lot. It

was built in 1988 in the style of a 19th century carriage house,
replacing a nondescript one story garage erected in the 1950's. The

new garage is connected to the house by an open covered walkway.
Except for the rear of the structure, the exterior appearance of the
Whitney House is almost unchanged from 100 years ago according to a
photograph taken in 1886 (See Exhibit B). .

Detalled Description

Starting with the front gable side that faces north, one first sees
three double hung sash windows with segmental arches on the second
story. The windows are evenly spaced across the front. Directly

£ ] See continuation sheet
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below and under the front porch roof are two floor length windows on
the left and a double door entrance on the right, all three having
segmental arches with an additional decorative crown over the
recessed doorway. The doors are nine feet tall with rounded windows
in the top panels. All five windows and the entrance are flanked by
arched shutters. A porch runs the full front of the House with a Tow
railing and classically shaped balusters. On either side of the
front elevation, one can see a side entrance under the roof of each
of the side porches. On the right side a louvered door shows the
location of a former entrance (once used as the waiting room entrance
to a doctor’s office) which is now sealed off. On the left, or east
side, a door opens to a side entrance enclosure which provides access
o a curved driveway. At the attic level in the gable, a paired
window is capped by a double arched hood. A brick chimney rises
through the ridge of the roof.

The east facade shows the partial porch as it continues from the
front porch. It ends at the side carriage entrance. By comparing
Exhibit B with an eartier sketch of the house from an 1882 bird’s eve
view of Hinsdale (Exhibit C>, we have concluded that the entrance and
the side porch were added between 1882 and 1886. Above the side
entrance roof on the second story is a bay window believed to have
been directly below on the first floor until the side entrance was
added. A1l four windows on the main wall have segmental arches. The
three windows in the side entrance and the bay window have flat tops.
Like the front gable, the east gable contains the same paired window
capped with a double arched hood. The one story south end of the
House was extended in the 1950’s to enlarge the summer Kitchen into a
family room. It has two rectangular windows and a rear entrance
door. A two story brick chimney was added at the same time to vent a
new family room fireplace.

The south side of the house still shows the original roof line of the
summer Kitchen even though the side walls have been extended to the
full width of the main structure. The original Kitchen chimney
remains near the rear wall although it is now sealed off from use.
Sitting on top of the Kitchen roof is a many windowed "cure porch®
built in the World War I era for a child with tuberculosis. It is
accessible from the rear of the second flocor halliway.

The west side of the one story extension shows the extended summer
Kitchen wall with two windows and a sliding glass door, the latter
with an entrance landing. The two story main structure has four
paired windows, all capped by double arch tops and flanked by arched
shutters. The west gable, as in the other two gables, contains a

1}
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paired window capped with a double arched hood. A third chimney
rising from the rear main roof is also visible. When built it vented
a central hot air furnace. Today it is used for a modern gas—fired
hot water furnace. ‘

The entire area under the house contains a basement except for the
space under the east entrance. Basement walls consist of limestone
blocks and irregular stone shapes laid 16 inches thick with lime
mortar except for a 25 foot poured concrete section under the
southeast extension of the summer Kitchen. The roof of the main
structure was originally wood shingles but is now covered with
asphalt shingles, as are the roofs of the summer Kitchen/family room
and "cure porch®". All window sashes in the entire house are original
and over 904 of the panes appear to be original glass.

In addition to a major exterior remodeling in the 1880°s and the
widening of the summer Kitchen into a family room in the 19507s, the
interior spaces have been changed several times. Based on extensive
study of the structure by the author, the floor plan has undergone at
least four major changes in the 120 year history of the House. See
Exhibit D.

Description of the interior

Despite many interior changes, most details remain original. As one
enters the front hall through the double door entrance, the eleven
foot ceiling conveys a spaciousness not suspected from the outside.
A curved stair with a2 walnut bannister reaches to the second floor
hall. To the left of the front entrance the front parlor continues
to be graced with the original marble fireplace. Original moldings
frame most doorways and windows. Upstairs the spacious feeling
continues with nine foot ceilings in all four bedrocoms. The master
bedrcom was created in 1982 from two smaller bedrooms.

The basement remains unfinished. In fact, two areas remain with a
dirt surface. The Attic contains two interesting features —-- a water
tank, now disconnected, and the parlor fireplace chimney which twists
and shifts, by offset placement of several courses of brick, so that
the chimney exits in the center of the roof even though it ascends
through the floor off center and at a 90 degree angle. A rear stair
connects the south end of the second floor with the family room in
the summer Kitchen area.
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Summar

Despite remodeling of the summer Kitchen area in the 195075, the
Whitney House has excellent exterior architectural integrity. It is
by far the best preserved of five or six remaining Italianate
structures in Hinsdale. Because of its architectural integrity and
central location, it is one of the best Known structures in Hinsdale
and the surrounding area.
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EXHIBIT A

William Whitney House
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EXHIBIT D
William Whitney House
First Floor Plan
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EXHIBIT D{continued}
William Whitney House
Second Floor Plan
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8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
[ nationally [ statewide [xttocally

_ Applicable National Register Criteria [ ]A [K]B [Je [lo
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [18 [Jc¢ [Jo [Je [JFr [e

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Politics and government 1872-1873 1872,1873

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder

ignificant Person .
S Whitney, William M. Unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.
Summary

The William Whitney House meets Criterion B for listing on the
National Register of Historic Places because it is associated with
William Whitney, the man who got Hinsdale incorporated as a village
in 1873. Whitney, who resided in the house from 1870 to 1879, rose
to prominence in DuPage County political and business affairs in the
1860's until misfortune caused him to drop from view in the mid
1870's. His subseguent obscurity led a historian 100 years later to
aptly characterize Whitney's role in founding the village as
"Forgotten man, memorable deed" (1).

Who was William Whitnevy?

In 1858 at the age of 28 William Whitney, his wife Sarah and five
year o0ld daughter Augusta came to Illinois from upstate New York and
settled in Winfield, a small town in west central DuPage County {(2).
In 1860 the ambitious -Whitney was elected county Circuit Clerk and
Recorder and served until 1868 (3). 1In 1862 the Whitneys, the family
now larger by two more daughters, moved to Naperville, prcbakly to be
closer to County offices which at that time were located there. In
1868 the county seat was transferred to Wheaton, a controversial
event {(4) which may have caused Whitney  to serve his final term as
Clerk. Another reason to leave this position may have been his
groving real estate business activity. Beginning in 1865 Whitney
became involved in numerous transactions in DuPage County real estate
as an agent, developer and investor. In 1868 with partner Charles W.
Richmond they platted one of the first subdivisions in Downer's
Grove, the Whitney and Richmond addition (5}. In the prior year
Whitney bought his first property in Hinsdale, a half block for
$1,000 which he sold three years later for $3,000 {(6). 1In 1870
Whitney, his wife Sarah, nowv six daughters, a son and two servants
moved to the just completed house in Hinsdale on First Street, the

E]Saaam&mmhndhmt
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subject of this nomination. The 1870 census shows that the Whitneys
declared real and personal property worth $17,000, an amount which
marked them as one of the most well-to-do families in the village.

In the fall of 1870 Whitney was elected as DuPage County’s sole
Representative to the State Legislature where he served in the 27th
General Assembly for two years. At the 1872 session the Assembly
passed a new general incorporation law effective July 1, 1872 which
empowered the Secretary of State under the newly adopted 1870 State
Constitution to issue certificates of incorporation instead of the
Legislature. It is possible that voting for this law spurred Whitney
to seek incorporation for his newly adopted village later that year
(7>.

The Incorporation of Hinsdale

Whitney’ s role in the incorporation of Hinsdale was described by
Timothy Bakken in his recent history of Hinsdale as follows:

“After the adjournment of the 27th General Assembly in April
1872, Whitney headed home for Hinsdale with the intention of
getting his Village chartered, and that summer he drafted a
petition to the County Judge asking for a referendum on the
matter. He wrote out a faircopy of the petition, dating it
August 1, 1872; affixed his signature as the first to the
document; and during the next month persuaded various friends
and neighbors to sign it also. It was then proudly presented to
County Judge Myron C. Dudley . . . the petition was signed by 37
of the most prominent residents."(8)

Judge Dudley approved the petition and set the voting day for March
29, 1873. The referendum was overwhelmingly approved 480 to 2., Judge
Dudley certified the results and declared that ". . . said proposed
Village . . . shall from henceforth be deemed an organized
village®"(%?>. To again quote Bakken, L

". . . it is probable that William Whitney, who had so far
capably carried through the incorporation of the Village, was
now the one who arranged Hinsdale’s first election and
buttonholed a few men to run for office."(10)

In the first election held on April 15, 1873, six trustees were
selected who in turn elected two village clerkKs, a police magistrate
and one of their own as village President. The village of Hinsdale
now had a working government to guide its growth and improvement.
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Significance of Incorporation

How does the incerporation fit into the context of early Hinsdale?
Hinsdale is one of Chicago’s oldest suburbs with its first streets
being platted in 1865, the year the Chicago, Burlingtoen, and Quincy
Railroad was completed to Aurora and trains began to run. A St.
Louis banker, William Robbins, was the first to foresee the area’s
potential for development as a residential community because of the
rolling terrain and its proximity to Chicago. In 1862 Robbins bought
800 acres where Hinsdale exists today for a cost of $14 to $20 per
acre, and within a few years sold his hoidings for 30 to 50 times
that amount (ii1)!

The Whitney house, one of the first on land platted by Robbins, was
initially built for Levi and Maria Stodder of Naperville for a cost
of about $3800. They moved toc the new house in Hinsdale in the fall
of 1849. A few months later, in February 1870, the Whitneys
purchased the house for $7500 thus giving the Stodders a substantial
gain. By that time the population of Hinsdale had grown to about 300
(12). Other new residents included real estate developers, Chicago
businessmen, lawyers and railroad officials. The latter may help
explain the excellent rail service between Hinsdale and Chicago, with
24 trains a day for trips of 30 to &0 minutes duration according to
an 1874 account (132,

While growth slowed for a time in the 1870°s, as Chicago emerged as a
center of transportation and manufacturing Hinsdale grew rapidly in
population and reputation as a desirable suburban community. The
newly incorporated village began a series of street improvements and
gradually assumed additional municipal functions. By 1890 its
population had grown to 1400 and the village was being touted as the
"Gold Coast of DuPage". Hinsdale was the first community in DuPage
County to estabiish a municipal water works and power plant.
Palatial homes along County Line Road became Known throughout the
country as "Millionaires’ Row". By the early 1900°s ". . . Hinsdale
was about as comfortable and prosperous a suburban town as any in
America.”(15). Today, 90 years later, Hinsdale’s population is now
17,000 and the village continues to remain one of Chicago’s most
attractive and desirable suburbs. WVillage government remains at the
center of community actions to maintain and improve Hinsdale.
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What Happened to Whitney?

In 1873 Whitney’s business and political career seemed to be at a
peak. In Chicago and its Suburbs, published in 1874, some three
dozen leading citizens of Hinsdale were mentioned including the *. .
. Honorable Wm. M. Whitney . . . and others (which) have pleasant and
commodious homes®(14). But misfortune soon befell the Whitner
family.

The Panic of 1873 greatly depressed real estate in the area which
must have hurt Whitney‘s business. The death of his wife Sarah a few
years later may have caused additional! problems. In 1879 the Whitney
House was sold for overdue property taxes going back to 1873. The
selling price was 7?54 of the amount paid by Whitney in 1870 (17).
Other real estate transactions of Whitney’s showed similar results,
Whitney dropped from view after serving as Hinsdale’s police
magistrate from 1878 to 1880, with no further record found about him
in local histories, County property records or the U.S. census (18).
It was not until the village’s centennial in 1973 that the role of
Whitney was rediscovered by Timothy Bakken, a local histerian, as
explained in his book Hinsdale in a chapter entitled "Forgotten Man,
Memorable Deed".

While Whitney was ultimately unsuccessful in his real estate
ventures, his influence in teading the local residents to incorporate
certainly was, by definition, a seminal event in the history of the
village. In a broader sense, he appeared to be typical of the new
species of American businessman on the frontier so well described by
Daniel Boorstin as

*Businessman Americanus . . . a peculiarly American type of
communi ty maKer and community leader. His starting belief was
in the interfusing of public and private prosperity . . . when
he first appeared, his primary commodity was land and his
secondary commodity transportation. This transformation of land
rights and transport rights from political symbols and heirlooms
into mere commodities was also an American phenomenon.” (19)
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EPILOGUE

Subsequent to William Whitney 18 different families have owned his
house and hundreds of people have called it home. Over the years the
more noteworthy owners and residents included Adam and Emilie Glos
who bought the house in 1879 for back taxes, probably as an
investment. The Glos” were part of an Elmhurst family considered the
richest in DuPage County at the time. Later the four offspring of
the Hinckley family (1880 - 1912) became involved in law, street
railways, mining and education activities across the U.S. Later
residents made their mark in medicine, real estate, manufacturing

and banking and three were listed in Who’s Who of Chicago. In 1970
the Whitney House was featured in a national television commercial by
the Hallmark Greeting Card Company (20)>. Because of this and its
central location and excellent architectural integrity, it is now
widely Known locally as the *“Hallmark House®,

ENODNOTES
1. Bakken, Timothy, Hinsdale, the Hinsdale Doings, pp.24-24.

2. U.S. Census records on file at the Wheaton Public Library,
Wheaton, Iliinois.

3. Bateman, Newton and Selby, Paul(eds.), Historical Encyclopedia
of 11linois and History of DuPage County, Volume II, Munsell
Publishing Co., Chicago, 1913, p.é&42.

4. Thompson, Richard &., DuPage Roots, DuPage County Historical
Society, 1985, p.42.

5. DuPage County property and tax records, Recorder and Tax
Collector offices, Wheaton, Illinocis.

&5, Ibid..

7. Bakken, op. cit. p.24.

8. Bakken, op. cit. pp.24-25.
?. Bakken, op. cit. p. 26.

10. Bakken, gp. cit. p. 27.
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of property _Less than one acre

UTM References
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["]see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
The north 170.0 feet of the east 177.0 feet of the northeast quarter

of block 5 lying south of the south line of First Street and west of
the west line of Park Avenue, in William Robbins First Addition to

Hinsdale, being a subdivision of part of the north half of the north- -

east quarter of Section 12, Township 38 north, Range 11, east of the

Third Principal Meridan, according to XXIseX¥swmiatiererser the plat thereof

recorded on October 13, 1866 as document no. 7893 in DuPage County,

Boundary Justification

The William Whitney House has historically been associated
with this property.

[ see continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

namefhtitle Frederick C. Cue

organization - date July 8, 1989

street & number 142 East First Street te|eph°na(312)440—6401(W),655-—0549
clty or town Hinsdale statell1linois 2ip cod0521-4202

*U.8.GPO:1088-0-223.918
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Laurence County
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Radress Restricted
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Pouhatan Jail
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Powhatan 10/16/89 B00220%5
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Rddress Restricted
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COLORADO
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Pass- a-&nlll Historic District
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St. Patarsburg Beach 10719703 3300174

GEORGIA
Habsrshan County
Dangreat Connarcial Misteric District
Georgia 5t, and Cantral fve,
Dmrnl 10716789 8%00171)

17 E, University v
Chanpaign IOROI” 001732

and Gult

ILLINGLS
Du Page Toumty
Yhitney, Willian House

142 €. Firmet St
Hinsdale 10719/59 3900V 7M1

Marrin County
Stewart, Rinnle, Huu
1016 £, Ewclid Rve.
fosnouth 10/19/89 T9001713

KANSRS
farton Lounty
us Post mm--ummm
Xansss Post Dﬂ'u:u uith Artuork, $936--1942 W3
121 €. 2nd
Holsington 16!17!!9 19001642

Brous County
US Post Office--Hortom
Xansss Post omm urth Artuark, 1936--1942 NP3
125 18t Ave.
Morton 1071 71"! $90C 1843

Butler County
US Post OfFice--Rugusta
Kansas Post D!nm with Ariaork, 1936--1342 APS
119 E. Fifth §
Rugunats 10!1?/” 9001632

';ou Mhn--hrlmﬂm

Kansas Post D!hul uith Artuork, 1936--192 W3
107 3. Fourth §

Burlington 10!17!8! 01

Dickingon County
US Pout OFfice--Haringtom
f;n;u Polt Ilﬂ'.u:n with Artusri, 1936--1M2 7P}
lhm;igun R

Greamuwood County
US Post OFfica--Eurmka
Kanean Fvﬂ oﬂ';m uith Artuork, 1536102 W3
01 0. Oak
Eureka 10{17!!9 $9001637

Marpar County
l.B Put Off ice~-Anthony
:;ur Post OFfices uith Mrtusch, 1936--192 WPS
$tepdman

Mntheny 16/17/89 §R001EN

Ser [ank page

>

f

Sl Nk

KAMSRS
Harvey County
U3 Pout Office—-Naletesd
Kannas Post Offices with Artwork, 1926--1342 13
219 e St
Halstaad 10/19/89 B0O1EM0

Ki County

Post OFFica-—Kingnan

Kansis Post Dfn:u uith Artwork, 193--1942 APS
A% N Man §

Kingnan 10!1?/” 001645

Labatta County
U3 Post OfFice-—Osusyt
Kansas Post OFFices with Rrtwork, 1936--1942 WS
$19 4th St.
Deuegs 10/17/3% T3001643

NeMarson County
US Post OFfice—-Lindsbory
Kanuas Post Offices wuth Artusrk, 193--1942 NP3
125 €. Linceln 3t.
Lindsbory 10/17/89 E900L 046

Borris County .
95 Post Office--louncil Greve -
Kansas Post Offices with Artuprk, 153--1942 W3
103 U, s St
Council Growe 10/17/89 M-’

Hanaba County

US Post DFfice--Jabetha
Kansas Pout OFFices uith Artuerk, 1935--192 WS
122 3. %th I
Sabaths  10/17/39 29001640

US Powt Office--Jereca
K“-;ut Pou Dftices urth Artuerh, 153%--1541 S
Seneca ion?fll 19001651

Rene County
Us Fyat Mn:c--mwhm
Kanest Peat Offices with Artuark, 1936--1547 WS
128 €. Firer St
Wutchunsen  10/17/5% §9001 644

h;uhlu: Lounty
¥ Pout Nl’u.r-lﬂhﬂlh
Kansin Peet Offices with Artusrk, 193--1541 NP3
118 180k 51,
Balleville 1917/79 IROED

US Pout OFf ice—Rusmell
Kangsa Post ﬂl'nm with Artaerk, 15936--1942 W3
1% K Sixth &
Rugsell w.hms 001648

Smrnan
[ Put Dﬂin-—hldll\d
Kansas Post DFfices with Artuerk, 1536--1M2 WPS
1M E, 11tk 3,
Goodland 10/17/19 T9ONEN

Sumnar Tounty
U3 Post Office--Calduall
lanus lon Uﬂ‘xm with Artusri, 1936—1942 WPS

muu 10[1?]8 o gl ]

Hilsen County

U3 Post OFFiee~-Fredonis
Kanwas Post OFfices with Rrtwork, 19361942 PP3
428 Madison ST,
Fradonia loh?!l! 016N

US Post Office--ecdasha
Karsas Post OFfices with Artusrk, 1536--1342 WPS
123 M. Fafth 3¢,
Neosesha  10/17/89 T90N 647

RENTUCKY
Lo County
oreat Mill
Kt M, Yni. B oF Barwil
Darville vasimity 10[15}3’ IWOIN2

ming )
Ardrescegyin County
Usbster Rubber Company Plant
Groana $t.
Sabatius  10/16/T8 $9001 N
Nrecstosh County
Clame, Nicholas P., Mouse
Capitol Will .
B Susden  10/16/39 0014
Cuneriond Coumty
Bach Cove
foughly Barter Nivd. alang Back Tove fran Bawter 1o Varanda

its.
Pertiand WNE/39 BONVRE




“he FEileeing AETiTR S4vE been Taedn on “he following sroperties:

KEV: Broparty Wane. Meltiplt Yane, Agares s/ Bowndacy. Laty,
vicanity, Referenca NumBer, WML $taTul, Requested Aetion, Decision Date

1goug
faw County
Fintcher 0al Congany Puilding
Toertellotte and Ml Architecture TR
Mazn St. and Bouse fve.
Erng1t  S2000M6
REMOVAL HO/16/8%

fuin Falls County

farlogn, Alfces, Barm
Burl Cairy Baems IR
NE of Buhl
Borl vicamaty §30002%
PESCLAL 10/6/89

ryrze, Mogelf, Barn
8.1 Saury Barmg R
NE of Buhi
seal vicamaty 33000192
eTROVAL 18706718

.
ILLIMTS
Coow County . N
Lest Jackson Mistoric District (Boundary Increase)
1813 U, Mdans ST .
Chicage 39001729 -
BOUNCARY INCREASE 10/19/19

The following Propesty was erronecously 1isted on 9/14/89.

LOU TS TANA
Natchitoches Parish
Cakland Plantation (Boundary Increase)
E of Natchez on LA 494
Natchez vicinity 89001444
BOUNDARY INCREASE 9/14/89




